

# THE IMPACT OF E-COMMERCE PLATFORMS' LIVE-STREAMING FEATURES ON

# MALAYSIAN YOUNG ADULTS' PURCHASING BEHAVIOR

YEONG SHU WEE

A RESEARCH PROJECT SUBMITTED IN PARTIAL FULFILLMENT OF THE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE BACHELOR OF CORPORATE COMMUNICATION (HONOURS) FACULTY OF CREATIVE INDUSTRIES UNIVERSITI TUNKU ABDUL RAHMAN

MAY 2023

# THE IMPACT OF E-COMMERCE PLATFORMS' LIVE-STREAMING FEATURES ON

## MALAYSIAN YOUNG ADULTS' PURCHASING BEHAVIOR

YEONG SHU WEE

A RESEARCH PROJECT SUBMITTED IN PARTIAL FULFILLMENT OF THE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE BACHELOR OF CORPORATE COMMUNICATION (HONOURS) FACULTY OF CREATIVE INDUSTRIES UNIVERSITI TUNKU ABDUL RAHMAN

MAY 2023

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

It would be impossible to complete this thesis without the assistance and cooperation of a host of individuals and organizations. I am therefore deeply thankful to Mr. Kenneth Lee Tze Wui, my supervisor of the Final Year Project. I am delighted to have Mr. Kenneth as my supervisor as he helped a lot in my project by giving me a lot of useful suggestions to improve my work.

I am deeply grateful to my parents for their warm and sweet encouragement as well as their understanding. Besides, I must give special thanks to several friends whose continuous support and wise counsel I greatly value and appreciate: Wong Wen Hui, Teo Zhi Enn, Low Xin Yi, and Thong Bao Chye, who gave me strong moral support.

To every one of you, I thank you. This thesis has been completed through all of your efforts and contributions.

### YEONG SHU WEE

### APPROVAL FORM

This research paper attached hereto, entitled "The Impact of E-commerce Platforms' Live-Streaming Features on Malaysian Young Adults' Purchasing Behavior" prepared and submitted by Yeong Shu Wee in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the Bachelor of Corporate Communications (Honours) is hereby accepted.

Date: \_\_\_\_\_

Supervisor

Supervisor's name

### DECLARATION

I declare that the material contained in this paper is the end result of my own work and that due acknowledgment has been given in the bibliography and references to ALL sources be they printed, electronic, or personal.

Name : YEONG SHU WEE

Student ID: 19UJB02653

Signed :\_

Date  $: 28^{th}$  APRIL 2023

#### ABSTRACT

Livestream shopping is an act of purchasing products through social media and e-commerce platforms' broadcasting abilities. Live-streaming can boost a product's exposure by allowing the owner to showcase the product to the audience directly. This research is to study the impact of livestream e-commerce platforms on youth's purchasing behavior by using the Stimulus-Organism-Response (SOR) Theory. This study aims to determine the various "stimulus" and "organism" factors linked to livestream shopping in e-commerce platforms and to examine how "stimulus" and "organism" factors respectively affect consumer purchasing behavior (i.e., response) among the youth aged from 15 to 30 in Klang Valley. The methodology of this study is a quantitative research approach, the demographic will be the youth from Klang Valley aged 15 and 30. Findings show that the visuality of the livestream e-commerce platform, the expertise of the broadcaster, and the product price significantly affected the purchasing behavior; while the viewers' emotional and cognitive states positively affected the purchasing behavior of viewers. The study's importance involves giving the marketing industry a new view of how the youth behave while making purchases. It also serves as inspiration for social media developers looking to enhance the functionality of their programs with new features.

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

		Page
DECLARA	ΓΙΟΝ	i
ABSTRACT	ſ	ii
TABLE OF	CONTENTS	iii
LIST OF TA	ABLES	v
LIST OF GF	RAPHS	vi
CHAPTERS	3	
Ι	INTRODUCTION	1
	1.1 Online Shopping Trend	1
	1.2 Live-streaming	2
	1.3 Live-streaming on E-commerce Platforms	3
	1.4 The Market of Live-streaming	4
	1.5 Business Transformation	5
	1.6 The Benefit of the Transformation	6
	1.7 Purpose of Study	7
	1.8 Statement of Problem	7
	1.9 Research Objectives	8
	1.10 Research Questions	8
	1.11 Significant of the Study	8
II	LITERATURE REVIEW	10
	2.1 Past Related Studies	10
	2.2 Customer Purchasing Behavior	13
	2.3 Impulsive Buying Behavior	14
	2.4 Theoretical Framework	14
	2.4.1 stimuli (S)	15
	2.4.2 organism (O)	16
	2.4.3 responses (R)	17
	2.5 Theory Application in this Study	18
III	METHODOLOGY	20
	3.1 Research Approach	20

	3.2 Data Collection Method and Tools	20
	3.3 Population and Sample	21
	3.4 Questionnaire Design	24
	3.5 Research Procedures	26
	3.6 Data Analysis	27
	3.6.1 descriptive statistics	27
IV	FINDINGS & ANALYSIS	28
	4.1 Demographic Profile of Respondents	28
	4.2 The Live-streaming Habit of Respondents	37
	4.3 The External Factors (i.e., stimulus) of Livestream Shopping	39
	Affecting Consumer Purchasing Behavior	
	4.3.1 Feature of Livestream Shopping	39
	4.3.2 Quality of Broadcaster	42
	4.3.3 Quality of Product Marketed	46
	4.4 The Emotional and Cognitive (i.e., organism) that Lead to	48
	Consumer Purchasing Behavior in Live-streaming	
V	DISCUSSION & CONCLUSION	59
	5.0 Questionnaire Results Inferences	59
	5.1 Discussion on Major Findings	59
	5.1.1 stimulus (S)	59
	5.1.2 organism (O)	61
	5.1.3 responses (R)	61
	5.2 Limitations of the Study	62
	5.3 Recommendations for the Study	63
	5.4 Conclusion	63
REFERENC	ES	65
APPENDIX		77

# LIST OF TABLES

Tables		Page
1	Summary of past related studies	12

# LIST OF GRAPHS

Graphs		Page
1	Gender of the respondents	28
2	Age distribution of the respondents	29
3	Job status of the respondents	30
4	Area of distribution of the respondents	31
5	Monthly income level of the respondents	32
6	The approximate online shopping experience of respondents	33
7	The frequency of the respondents doing online shopping	34
8	The approximate duration spent on livestream shopping per day	35
9	The average amount of money spent on online shopping per month	36
10	The period of developing the habit of watching live-streaming	37
11	The application used for livestream shopping	38
12	Ease of use of livestream shopping e-commerce platform	40
13	The visuality of the livestream shopping e-commerce platform	41
14	The trustworthiness of the broadcaster	42
15	The expertise of the broadcaster	43
16	The interactivity of the broadcaster	44
17	The product price of the product marketed	46
18	The product usefulness of the product marketed	47
19	The arousal and pleasure of respondents during livestream shopping	49
20	The impulsive buying behavior of respondents	51
21	Ease of use is able to affect purchase intention	52
22	Visuality able to affect purchase intention	53

23	Trustworthiness of the broadcaster able to affect purchase intention	54
24	The expertise of the broadcaster is able to affect purchase intention	55
25	Interactivity able to affect purchase intention	56
26	Products' usefulness able to affect purchase intention	57
27	Products price able to affect purchase intention	58

#### CHAPTER I

#### INTRODUCTION

## 1.1 Online Shopping Trend

Online shopping is a practice that enables consumers to purchase goods using digital channels. Through various online media, users can browse, choose, and buy products or services online (Liu, 2019). Online shopping offers the benefits of being always available, cheaper, and allowing customers to purchase from home. Additionally, customers can compare products because other customers will attempt to give reviews by putting a photo or a video (Svatosava, 2020). People can browse a wide range of available products online with just the Internet and no time or location restrictions (Liu, 2019). Online shopping offers a benefit to the shoppers as they can access the information provided by previous customers, for example, pictures of the products, comments on their reviews, and so forth; that information can become a consideration when making purchase decisions (Sayyida, 2021). Furthermore, from the perspective of the seller, e-commerce has lower entry barriers with low costs compared to physical stores (Rita, 2019). The seller can register directly on the Internet without paying any rental fee or decoration cost.

In 2017, there were more than 4 billion Internet users worldwide as a result of the Internet's widespread use as a tool for business and communication and for easy online shopping (Ariffin, 2018). 49.2% of the world's 4 billion Internet users are from Asia. Additionally, there were 29.55 million Internet users in Malaysia as of January 2022, and 89.6% of Malaysians utilize the Internet (Kemp, 2022). Since the start of the pandemic, there have been 3 million more digital customers in Malaysia, and 81% of Internet users have made purchases online ("Malaysia e-commerce Statistics and Trends in 2022," 2022). Online purchasing is a growing trend in Malaysia as a result.

Additionally, a study reveals that only 15% of Malaysian online consumers are over the age of 50, while 66% of them are between the ages of 18 and 34. (Suhaidi, 2022). Additionally, the most popular items when buying online are fashion, which made up 50% of the items, followed by grocery, which made up 50% of the items. However, pricey items like electronics and household appliances only made up 13% of the items (Palansamy, 2022). Convenience is the main factor for young individuals to shop online. Instead of navigating a shopping mall, customers can find a range of goods by searching online, which is a simple task (Mokhtar, 2020).

#### 1.2 Live-streaming

Live-streaming is a medium for broadcasting that is available to everyone. In live streaming, the broadcaster, or the person who initiates the stream, serves as the host and shows the content the broadcaster intended to provide. Additionally, the audience, or viewer, gets to select which live-streaming categories they want to watch. There are live streams related to foods, games, signs, businesses, and other topics; people can watch various categories of livestreaming according to their interests whenever and wherever they like (Hou et al., 2019). Although only the broadcaster will need to show the visualization elements, such as a face, computer screen, or products, however, live-streaming is a two-way communication platform; the viewer can use the comments and chat box functions to interact with the broadcaster (Li et al., 2022).

Live-streaming has become a trend in the current year, especially after the Covid-19 pandemic. Live-streaming is a method of real-time broadcasting that utilizes social media and any live-streaming tool. This is due to live-streaming being cost-effective. Instead of paying for a TV broadcast or video broadcast from Netflix or Astro, most live-streaming may be viewed through e-commerce platforms or social media. Statista reports that the number of pay

TV subscriptions has decreased to 6.88 million in 2020 from 7.12 million in 2019, a decrease of 3.4%, and a decrease of 2.6% from 6.7 million in 2021 (Statista Research Department, 2022). Also, live-streaming can help sellers with low brand recognition and reputation attract customers since it enables the broadcaster to display their identities and personalities, which helps buyers feel less hesitant about their purchasing decisions (Wongkitrungrueng & Assarut, 2020).

#### 1.3 Live-streaming on E-commerce Platforms

Live-streaming commerce is a new medium for e-commerce marketing and it supports business growth because of the maturity support from various social media applications and live-streaming platforms (Lin et al., 2022). Live-streaming commerce allows the broadcaster the opportunity to interact with viewers while showing a real-time video of their potential buyers. The broadcaster can interact with the viewer by introducing the items, demonstrating them to the viewer, sharing their experience and feelings while using them, providing tutorials, and so forth. In addition, the broadcaster can directly respond to viewer inquiries by using the comment or chat box feature (Li et al., 2022). The viewers' experience will be improved because they will receive a prompt response. Additionally, the Covid-19 pandemic is one of the factors that accelerated the speedy expansion of live-streaming e-commerce because it can connect all sellers and customers without geographical limitations (Syazmer, 2021).

Because of the various platforms, particularly Facebook, and the increasing number of businesses using the newest digital trend to attract customers, livestream shopping is becoming more and more common in Malaysia ("Live streaming shopping trending up in Malaysia," 2018). Some e-commerce platforms have started to include new live-stream features to their platform as a result of people starting to rely on live-streaming. For instance, Lazada offered "Laz Live" on that platform in order to enable and invite broadcasters to conduct live on that platform, and Shopee followed in the same month to promote Shopee Live (Anbalagan, 2020).

## 1.4 The Market of Live-streaming

China has the largest live-streaming market in 2018, its market for live-streaming exceeded USD 4.4 billion (Li et al., 2022). There are 600 million Chinese people predicted to purchase online in 2018 while more than 700 million in 2020. As a result, China has the greatest rate of e-commerce globally, which are 35% in 2019, and it is 3 times higher than those in the United States as a whole Besides, there are more than 430 million individuals will be viewing live-streaming in 2020 (about 30% of China's population) and about 37% of Chinese live-streaming viewers made purchases in 2019.

However, initiatives to introduce live-streaming abilities to Southeast Asia are beginning to be recognized as successful. The largest contributors to e-commerce sales growth will come from Southeast Asia, which accounted for 21% of global e-commerce sales in 2020. ("Live Streaming 101: Trends, Insights, and Opportunities in Southeast Asia," 2022). In addition, the Philippines took up 25.9% and Indonesia 23% of the increase in retail e-commerce sales ("Live Streaming 101: Trends, Insights, and Opportunities in Southeast Asia," 2022). Nevertheless, sales growth is expected to increase in 2020 in other nations like Malaysia, Thailand, and Vietnam. In 2022, Malaysia's e-commerce market expanded by 68%, and there were 14.43 million total online shoppers ("Malaysia e-commerce Statistics and Trends in 2022," 2022).

#### 1.5 Business Transformation

The Covid-19 pandemic has accelerated the growth of the Malaysian e-commerce market, which has been growing in recent years as more individuals choose to make purchases online due to the government's support and the availability of a choice of payment methods ("Covid-19 accelerates e-commerce growth in Malaysia, says GlobalData," 2020). Furthermore, due to movement restrictions around the country, face-to-face communication between sellers and buyers has been reduced (Sayyida et al., 2021).

Therefore, in order to survive, the vendors will transform their business into online market. Due to the Movement Control Order (MCO), which took effect in March 2020, Malaysia's online trading activity increased by 28.9%. This is because there are a lot of small and medium-sized businesses (SMEs) that were negatively impacted by the Covid-18 pandemic and could launch their businesses online to access a larger and wider market (Shaharuddin, 2021). Additionally, a survey by GlobalData's 2020 Banking & Payments Survey revealed that with a share of 40.3% by value for e-commerce sales in Malaysia in 2020, payment cards were listed as the most popular payment option ("Covid-19 accelerates e-commerce growth in Malaysia, says GlobalData," 2020). Similarly, during the Covid-19 outbreak, online retail sales nearly doubled (Idris, 2021).

The Covid-19 pandemic changed people's buying and selling habits when Malaysia imposed the MCO in stages starting in 2020. Furthermore, during that time period, only a select few industries were permitted to operate, such as the food and beverage industry, veterinary clinics, the transportation industry, and so forth (Idris, 2021). As a result, small and medium-sized enterprises (SMEs) were unable to conduct business, and companies that kept stocks faced additional challenges. There are 32,469 SMEs that have shut down since March 2020, 9,675 of which occurred during the initial phase of MCO and 22,794 of which occurred during the recovery of MCO (Tan et al., 2020).

#### 1.6 The Benefit of the Transformation

The head statistician of the Department of Statistics Malaysia (DoSM), Datuk Seri Dr. Mohnd Uzir Mahidin, stated that households' access to Information and Communication Technology increased to 95.5% in 2021 from 91.7% in 2020 (Birruntha, 2022). Moreover, he mentioned that the purchasing of products and services via e-commerce platforms like Grab, Lazada, and Shopee has increased by 67.4%. (Birruntha, 2022). Therefore, live broadcasting has become a source of income for millions of individuals during the pandemic (Bray & Qu, 2021). Since they only need to set up their own live-streaming room utilizing the existing technology, SMEs now have a way to sell their products (stock) to the general public. Additionally, Malaysia's e-commerce revenue is expected to reach RM279 billion in the third quarter of 2021 and contribute 11.5% of the country's GDP, up from 8.5% in 2019. ("Malaysia e-commerce Statistics and Trends in 2022," 2022).

For example, Wang Lei, a Singaporean Getai (traditional Hokkien popular music performer) singer, actor, and show host started his business by using live-streaming to sell fish during the Covid-19 pandemic. He was restricted to perform during the pandemic as a Getai singer and forced to take a 75-day absence from work with zero income (Wong, 2020). So, he started to sell fish by using live-streaming and get the title "sell fish brother" and become well-known in Malaysia, Singapore, and China due to his cracking jokes and willingness to respond to any questions from the viewers, including the informal and not answerable questions, such as the age of the fish or whether the fish has already eaten. The attraction of live-streaming is Wang Lei's irate response to the question, which has led to an increase in both the number of viewers and the ridiculousness of the questions. Therefore, the earnings of 1-hour of live-streaming in selling seafood are two to three times of 1-hour getai show (Tan, 2020).

### 1.7 Purpose of Study

In view of the above discussion, the research is to study the impact of livestream ecommerce platforms on youth's purchasing behavior. This study will employ the quantitative research approach where the researcher will rely on the collected data, the population will come from Klang Valley youth aged between 15 to 30 years old.

#### 1.8 Statement of Problem

The Covid-19 pandemic outbreak had a negative influence on individuals, and they are still having trouble moving around because of the restrictions. Businesses were not permitted to operate, and people were not allowed to go shopping or to work. Because of this, there have been many challenges for people, and live-streaming has become popular during the pandemic for business people to sell their products and audience to buy according to their needs and wants by utilizing e-commerce platforms and delivery services that are available. Due to the Covid-19 pandemic, businesses experienced a transition to ensure that the business can still survive during the pandemic. Live streaming enables businesses to reach a wider market by promoting their products online and by obtaining around any limitations on mobility. Because of this, the majority of online businesses have started including live streaming in their marketing plans in an effort to increase client engagement and revenue.

#### 1.9 Research Objectives

The research objectives (RO) of this study are:

RO1: To determine the various "stimulus" and "organism" factors linked to livestream shopping in e-commerce platforms that affect consumer purchasing behavior among youth aged from 15 to 30 in Klang Valley.

RO2: To examine how "stimulus" and "organism" factors respectively affect consumer purchasing behavior (i.e., response) among the youth aged from 15 to 30 in Klang Valley.

#### 1.10 Research Questions

Consistent with the research objectives above, the following research questions (RQ) are:

RQ1: What are the external factors (i.e., stimulus) linked to livestream shopping that affects consumer purchasing behavior among youth aged from 15 to 30 in Klang Valley? RQ2: What are the emotional and cognitive (i.e., organism) factors that lead to consumer purchasing behavior (i.e., response) in live-streaming among youth aged from 15 to 30 in Klang

Valley?

RQ3: How do "stimulus" and "organism" factors respectively affect consumer purchasing behavior (i.e., response) among the youth aged from 15 to 30 in Klang Valley?

### 1.11 Significant of the Study

The marketing sector will benefit from this study. This research is to determine the various "stimulus" and "organism" factors linked to livestream shopping in e-commerce platforms that affect consumer purchasing behavior among youth aged from 15 to 30 in Klang Valley and to examine how "stimulus" and "organism" factors respectively affect consumer

purchasing behavior among the youth among youth aged from 15 to 30 in Klang Valley. It will provide insight into the marketing industry and help marketers to have a better understanding of the youths' purchase habits. Consequently, the marketing industries are able to plan a marketing strategy that will effectively address the needs of youth. Likewise, this study may motivate the marketing sector to use the live-streaming platform for advertising and marketing the goods and services of their business.

This study is also helpful to social media software developers since it may provide an idea for adding a new feature—live-streaming—to their programs in order to boost software usage. They may utilize this journal to suggest to their business partner that they demonstrate the current market requirements and demand for live-streaming.

This study will be targeted to publish in the area of marketing. Due to the reason that this journal contributes to the era of only live-streaming. The ability to understand the livestreaming platform that is now popular and the factors that draw viewers to it can be useful for students studying marketing. They might benefit from using a different approach to promotion in the future if necessary.

#### CHAPTER II

### LITERATURE REVIEW

#### 2.1 Past Related Studies

According to Lee and Chen (2021), attractiveness and expertise influence consumers' emotional states, positively influence their perception of enjoyment, and increase their desire to make impulsive purchases; product usefulness and ease of purchase influence consumers' cognitive states, but have no positive impact on the desire to make impulsive purchases. The research was conducted using a qualitative methodology, including a survey targeting WeChat users with previous exposure to live-streaming commerce in China. Lu and Chen (2021)'s research was conducted through a questionnaire in China by the Wenjuanxing website and an unstructured interview stating that perceived value similarity will have an impact on viewers' trust in the broadcaster while also having the potential to influence their purchase intentions. However, perceived physical characteristic similarity will not impact how well the product fits, and viewers' trust will not impact the product quality and fit uncertainty, therefore negatively impacting the consumer's intention to buy.

Based on Ming et al., (2021), live streamers, live-streaming platforms, and viewers' social presences and telepresence (richness of media) have a favorable impact on consumers' trust and flow state (a state of mind when the people are deeply immersed in the current activity), which influences impulsive purchase behavior. The research is supported by an online survey on the Chinese website Wenjuanxing. Moreover, the interaction between participants (consumer-anchor and consumer-consumer) has an impact on consumers' social and physical presence, and both of these factors are positively affecting trust, therefore, the results of a questionnaire survey in Chinese revealed that trust can affect customers' hesitation while

making a purchasing decision (Ma et al., 2022). Table 1 below is the summary of the past related studies.

In accord with Li et al. (2022), the evidence suggests that the social presence of the broadcaster and the broadcaster's social presence during live-streaming will affect the consumers' pleasure and arousal to engage in impulsive purchase behavior. This study used an online survey on the Wenjuanxing website to carry out qualitative research. Furthermore, customer engagement such as likes, chats, and exposure time are linked to followership, while followership is linked to purchase intent; however, the price can affect customer engagement when shopping online, while price becomes a less important factor once the customer becomes a devoted follower who pays close attention to the brand, products, or seller (Clement Addo et al., 2021). The actual live-streaming from Taobao and JingDong was continuously observed for this investigation. The summary of the past related studies can be reviewed in Table 1.

Moreover, the live interaction such as the number of shares, comments, likes, and rewards; non-interactive information such as the number of broadcaster's followers, the number of products sold, the length of time viewers watched the live-streaming, and the audience size is the influencing factor of the number of sold users by using quantitative and qualitative analyses by observing 28,537 live-streaming in 18 months (Zhou & Tian, 2022). Additionally, Chen et al. (2022)'s research revealed that information plays a significant role in attracting purchasing behavior by using a quantitative research method, an online survey. For instance, a clear display on a live-streaming platform, effective product interaction, and perceived authenticity enables customers to assess the quality of products and match them to their preferences; the conveniences of product searches and the perceived enjoyment from live-streaming can enhance consumers' hedonic experiences and feelings of pleasure while strengthening the impact of product quality uncertainty on purchase intent. The summary of the past related studies can be reviewed below (Table 1).

# Table 1

# Summary of Past Related Studies

Author (s)	Methodology	<b>Research Objectives</b>	Key Findings
Lee & Chen (2021)	Quantitative method. Targeted WeChat users who experienced live-streaming commerce in China.	<ul> <li>Aim to study the key factors that promote consumers' impulsive buying behavior in live-streaming commerce.</li> <li>Aim to introduce the theoretical framework and concepts of S-O-R in the research of live streaming commerce to improve the understanding from a theoretical and a practical overview.</li> </ul>	<ol> <li>Intention to buy impulsively is positively influenced by perceived enjoyment.</li> <li>Attractiveness and expertise can affect perceived enjoyment.</li> <li>Product usefulness and purchase convenience can affect perceived usefulness.</li> <li>Consumers who engage in live- streaming commerce are more likely to make impulsive purchases due to the streamer's presentation and persuasion.</li> </ol>
Lu & Chen (2021)	Conducted a structured survey data set and unstructured interview data and targeted the live streaming users in China.	- Examine how live streaming affects consumers' purchase intention by considering product uncertainty reduction and trust cultivation between consumers and broadcasters.	<ol> <li>Perceived value similarity will have an impact on viewers' trust in the broadcaster while also having the potential to influence their purchase intentions.</li> <li>Perceived physical characteristic similarity will not have an impact on how well the product fits, and viewers' trust will not have an impact on the product quality and fit uncertainty, therefore having a negative impact on the consumer's intention to buy.</li> </ol>
Ming et al., (2021)	Quantitative method. Conducted online survey and targeted the live streaming shoppers in China.	- To examine how the social presence of live streaming platforms, of viewers, of live streamers, and telepresence affects consumer trust and flow state, thus inducing impulsive buying behaviors, and personal sense of power as moderators.	<ol> <li>Live streamers, live streaming platforms, and viewers' social presences and telepresence (richness of media) have a positive and significant impact on consumers' trust and flow state (a state of mind when the people are deeply immersed in the current activity), which influences impulsive purchase behavior.</li> <li>Consumer trust, flow state, and impulsive purchase behavior are all regulated by the consumers' sense of power.</li> </ol>
Ma et al., (2022)	Quantitative method. Through questionnaire survey.	- Aim to construct a conceptual model of the impact of participants' interaction on consumers' purchase hesitation in the case of live streaming commerce based on the presence theory, in which the interaction between participants is the antecedent variable; social presence and physical presence are the mediated variables, and trust and purchase hesitation are the outcome variables.	1. The interaction between participants (consumer-anchor and consumer- consumer) has an impact on consumers' social and physical presence, and both of these factors are positively affecting trust.

Li et al., (2022)	Quantitative method. An online survey from by using Wenjuanxing website.	- Aim to explore the effect of social presence in live streaming on customer impulse buying based on the stimulus–organism–response framework.	1. The social presence of the broadcaster and the broadcaster's social presence during live streaming will affect the consumers' pleasure and arousal to engage in impulsive purchase behavior.
Clement Addo et al., (2022)	Through manual observational of transaction records by randomly picking 10 live stream per month per shop and calculate the average in China.	- Aim to investigate how customer engagement in live-streaming digital marketing affects purchase intentions.	<ol> <li>Customer engagement such as likes, chats, and exposure time are linked to followership, while followership is linked to purchase intent.</li> <li>The price can affect customer engagement when shopping online, while price becomes a less important factor once the customer becomes a devoted follower who pays close attention to the brand, products, or seller.</li> </ol>
Zhou & Tian (2022)	Quantitative and qualitative analyses were conducted using tens of thousands of live-streaming data.	<ul> <li>Focus on the latter, where live streaming is mostly used to sell products.</li> <li>In live streaming, the live streamer uses video to tell viewers about the product and how using it affects their lives. Customers are more likely to feel immersed because the live streamer's image, language, and behaviour are all displayed in real time, which is obviously more realistic and complete than pictures and text.</li> </ul>	1. The live interaction such as the number of shares, comments, likes, and rewards; non-interactive information such as the number of broadcaster's followers, the number of products sold, the length of time viewers watched the live-streaming, and the audience size is the influencing factor of the number of sold users.
Chen et al., (2022)	Quantitative method. Through survey method.	- Aim to examine how live streaming commerce features help in reducing product uncertainty and forming habit to stimulate purchase intention.	<ol> <li>Clear display on a live-streaming platform, effective product interaction, and perceived authenticity enable customers to assess the quality of products and match them to their preferences.</li> <li>The conveniences of product searches and the perceived enjoyment from live streaming can enhance consumers' hedonic experiences and feelings of pleasure while strengthening the impact of product quality uncertainty on purchase intent.</li> </ol>

## 2.2 Customer Purchasing Behavior

The customer is the individual or an organization that purchases goods and services and the customer is the most important asset of any organization (Rahman & Safeena, 2016). Customer purchasing behavior is the individual's preferences, intentions, and decisions when deciding to purchase any goods or services available in the market with different brands (Taib et al., 2020). This purchasing behavior includes all the thoughts, feelings, and actions that an individual takes before or during purchasing goods or services (Al-Salamin & Al-Hassan, 2016). Purchase intention will also influence purchasing behavior, purchase intention means the willingness of an individual to purchase an item (Doan, 2020). The customer's purchasing behavior is changing due to the advancement of technology, as the company can provide more customized services and products to their customers as they can keep more information about customers and their feedback (Mostaghel & Chirumalla, 2021).

#### 2.3 Impulsive Buying Behavior

Impulsive buying is defined as unplanned, impulsive, and hasty decision-making (Japutra et al., 2022). Customers' impulsive buying behavior is impacted by both internal and external elements. Internal factors include customers' characteristics and trust, while external factors include elements that the buyer has no control over, such as product features and price (Kimiagari & Malafe, 2021). While purchasing a costly item requires greater consideration, purchasing inexpensive items will increase the likelihood of engaging in impulsive behavior (Tran, 2022). Subsequently, according to Gulfraz et al. (2022), there are three requirements for defining impulsive behavior: first, the buying decision must be unplanned and spontaneous; second, the customers must feel little regard for the consequences of their choice; and third, the buying decision must be motivated by irresistible and challenging-to-control dispositional, environmental, or sociodemographic temptations.

#### 2.4 Theoretical Framework

The Stimulus-Organism-Response (SOR) is a fundamental psychological theory for understanding consumer behavior that was proposed by Mehrabian and Russell in 1974. (Dyana et al., 2018). According to the SOR theory, environmental stimuli can externally arouse a person's psychological and cognitive processes, which can then influence their behavioral responses (Yang et al., 2022). This theory comprises three components: stimuli, organisms, and responses, and all three components are interconnected. According to Bingne et al. (2020), the stimulus will have an impact on the person's internal affective evaluation as known as an organism, which will subsequently cause them to react by approaching or avoiding the stimulus. Therefore, Song et al., (2021) reinforced the concept that environmental stimuli, which are an individual's sensory components, can affect that individual's emotional reactions and may even encourage them to engage with or avoid the environment. Additionally, the SOR theory, which highlights the method of generating emotions, can be used to define or predict a person's attitudes and behavior (Yang et al., 2022). SOR Theory has been utilized extensively in research to explain consumer purchasing behavior.

#### 2.4.1 stimuli (S)

The stimuli (S) variable is the various external environment inputs acting as influencing variables (Han et al., 2022). Stimuli had an influencing power on an individual's behavior by triggering their perceptions, and the term "stimulus" was used to refer to specific conditions that are specific to a time and place of observation, not arising from knowledge of one's own features or those of the stimuli, but which have a measurable, predictable impact on current behavior (Lee & Chen, 2021). Liu et al., (2019) confirmed that the four aspects of online shopping features—ease of use, visuality, interactivity, and entertainment—could affect a person's value of their shopping experience (O) and influence their decision to buy (R). In summary, a straightforward and user-friendly purchasing process and platform (visual effects), audience interaction with the system or broadcaster, and entertainment like animations and videos can all improve the organism of customers, which in turn influences the value of their shopping experience and, ultimately, their purchasing intention.

Another study demonstrated the impact of exterior environmental factors including demand, convenience, playfulness, and interactivity on internal psychological alterations, which is perceived enjoyment (O) while the internal psychological alteration is also impactful on an individual's impulsive buying intention (Lin et al., 2022). The audience's demands and desires for a product can be ignited by an effective introduction and description; by shopping online and using a straightforward ordering process, the audience will have a more enjoyable experience; by incorporating interactivity, the audience will have a more positive purchasing intention; and by creating a fun environment, the audience will stay on the platform and make better decisions. According to Lee and Chen (2021)'s research, the proven factors that will affect an individual's emotional state are attractiveness and expertise, while the product's usefulness and purchase convenience by affecting their cognitive state. It can be said that a broadcaster who is skilled and knowledgeable about introducing products and brands can make a strong impression on the audience and have an impact on their emotional state, while an easy-to-use website and the purchasing process can also increase the likelihood of the audience in making purchases by having an impact on their cognitive state.

## 2.4.2 organism (O)

The organism (O) variable is defined as the cognitive and emotional state of an individual that reflects the process between environmental stimuli and an individual's behavioral responses (Zhou et al., 2022). As a result, an individual's internal affective assessment as an organism (O) is influenced by external stimuli (S) (Bigne et al., 2020). According to Lee and Chen (2021), individual psychological states are categorized into two types of reactions: affective reactions, which are reflections of an individual's feelings or emotional states like satisfaction or happiness, and cognitive reactions, which are the process that deals with the information that is already accessible. Based on Hashmi et al., (2019), the

researchers adopted the shopping value, hedonic and utilitarian value as the organism for investigating the shopping value are able to mediate the website quality and impulsive buying behavior online as hedonic value and utilitarian value can increase the impulsive buying behavior of customers and also increase their satisfaction. The term "hedonic value" is the joyful experience when shopping while "utilitarian value" describes the task-specific value of shopping and emphasizes the efficient way in which goods are purchased.

Furthermore, it is being studied how the organism factors of arousal and pleasure mediate the interaction of impulsive live-streaming purchasing behavior with the impact of social presence. Because the emotional experience in live-streaming commerce has a significant impact on action tendency, the researcher confirmed that emotional states, arousal (the feeling of happiness or satisfaction), and pleasure (the feeling of being excited or stimulated), are the major factors of impulsive buying behavior (Li et al., 2022). Another study confirmed that consumer-perceived functional value and consumer-perceived emotional value can influence their intention to make cross-border online purchases, but the functional value's mediating effect is greater than the emotional value (Xiao et al., 2019). As a result, it can be seen that online shoppers anticipate a less complicated purchasing experience and the enjoyment of shopping since they are looking for emotional and social fulfillment.

## 2.4.3 responses (R)

The responses (R) variable refers to the choices, desires, or alterations in a behavioral drive by stimuli and organism variables (Li et al., 2021). It is often referred to as an individual's urge to enter or exit a particular environment, which is an approach or avoidance behavior (Binge et al., 2020). Most of the past related studies would use impulsive buying behavior in live-streaming e-commerce as the response (R) factors in their research.

According to Lin et al. (2022), the delight that the audience feels while watching a live stream, the demand for or needs of the products being marketed, as well as the convenience and interactivity of the live-streaming platform, can all contribute to impulsive purchasing behavior. Based on Lee and Chen (2021), customer-perceived enjoyment (O), which is attractiveness and expertise (S), is influencing the behavior of impulsive buying (R), but customer-perceived usefulness (O), which is impacted by product usefulness and purchase convenience (S), did not directly influence the impulsive buying behavior. Instead, customer-perceived usefulness directly impacts customer-perceived enjoyment. In accord with Li et al. (2022), impulsive buying behavior is mediated by the social presence of viewers through pleasure and arousal; the social presence of a broadcaster and the social presence of live-streaming can directly or indirectly influence the impulsive buying intention through pleasure and arousal. The term "social presence" refers to how much people believe they are participating in social activities through the use of communications technology (Li et al., 2022).

#### 2.5 Theory Application in this Study

The SOR theory will be used as the theoretical framework for this study because the majority of previous studies that were related to it used the same theory because it allowed researchers to examine environmental stimuli that could externally arouse a person's psychological and cognitive processes and, as a result, influence their behavioral responses (Yang et al., 2022). In this study, the stimulus that will be used to determine the external factor that influences the purchasing behavior of the viewers is the feature of live-streaming, which consists of the ease of use of the livestream shopping e-commerce platform, the visuality of the livestream shopping e-commerce platform; the quality of broadcaster that included of the trustworthiness, expertise, and interactivity of the broadcaster; and quality of product marketed that comprises of the product price and the product usefulness of the product marketed.

Additionally, the researcher included the arousal and pleasure of respondents during livestream shopping as the dimension to determine the organism as the emotional and cognitive state that influences the purchasing behavior. Following, responses, that represent the purchasing behavior of viewers will be determined based on the *stimulus*— the ease of use of the livestream shopping e-commerce platform, the visuality of the livestream shopping e-commerce platform; the trustworthiness, expertise, and interactivity of the broadcaster; and the product price and the product usefulness of the product marketed.

#### CHAPTER III

#### METHODOLOGY

#### 3.1 Research Approach

The research approach refers to the strategies and steps for conducting research that covers everything from general hypotheses to specific techniques by gathering, analyzing, and interpreting data (Creswell, 2018). In this study, the research approach is a quantitative method. The quantitative method is defined as the collection and analysis of numerical data by using a quantitative methodology used to describe, explain, forecast, or control variables and phenomena of interest (Creswell, 2016).

#### 3.2 Data Collection Method and Tools

This study aims to determine the various "stimulus" and "organism" factors linked to livestream shopping in e-commerce platforms that affect consumer purchasing behavior among youth aged from 15 to 30 in Klang Valley and to examine how "stimulus" and "organism" factors respectively affect consumer purchasing behavior among the youth among youth aged from 15 to 30 in Klang Valley. The identical question will be posed to respondents via an online survey form as a result of which the respondents' purchase behavior is measured and analyzed. The generalization of research findings to the whole population of Klang Valley.

The method of data collection of this study is through a quantitative survey using the tools of the online questionnaire. The advantage of using online questionnaires is it is a cost-effective research technique while being able to reach a huge population of samples by getting high representativeness (Queirós et al., 2017). Besides, online questionnaires can generate quick results as the researcher can receive the real-time results directly once the respondents have finished the questionnaire (Sutherland, 2019). Since an online questionnaire is a closed-

ended question hence the data is easier to be viewed and analyzed. Moreover, the benefit of using online questionnaires is it allows anonymity and standardization (Nayak & Narayan, 2019). The information of participants and the data will not be disclosed to other parties. Therefore, as the participants acknowledge that their confidentiality will be protected, they will be more honest in answering the questionnaire as they will feel more comfortable and secure answering honestly (Matmutovic, 2021).

#### 3.3 Population and Sample

The target audience for this study is the youth aged 15 to 30 who are staying in Malaysia's Klang Valley and have experience in live-streaming services. Klang Valley is the urban conglomeration of surrounding towns and cities that are based in Kuala Lumpur in the state of Selangor in Malaysia ("About Klang Valley," 2021). The Titiwangsa Mountains to the north and east, and the Straits of Malacca to the west, physically separate the Klang Valley. It extends to Klang and Port Klang in the southwest, to Rawang in the northwest, and to Semenyih in the southeast. The industrial and commercial hub of Malaysia is the conurbation (Low, 2021). According to The Youth Societies and Youth Development Act (Amendment) 2019 (Act 668), youth are defined as those who are between the ages of 15 and 30 (Yunus & Landau, 2019).

The researcher has done various searches about the population of youth in Klang Valley without any success, however, according to the Department of Statistics Malaysia (2022), the total estimated population in 2022 is 32.7 million in Malaysia, while 7.0 million in Selangor. Besides, based on *The Star-News (2022)*, the total population in Klang Valley without age classification is estimated at 1.18 million in 2022. In order to study the impact of livestream e-commerce platforms on youth's purchasing behavior, a total of 200 samples will be collected from the youth who reside in Klang Valley.

The sampling method of this study is a combination of purposive sampling and snowballing sampling. Purposive sampling, or judgemental sampling, is a sampling method in which the researcher selects the respondents subjectively by requiring professional judgment for the suitability of being a sample and a valid justification for selecting a specific group of samples (Klar & Leeper, 2019). Purposive sampling is a cost-effective method as the sample is chosen by the researchers. According to Dudovskiy (n.d.), reporters can just stop passersby on the street for interviews. It can show that the reporter is applying purposive sampling as he or she is the one who decides whom to select for the interview.

The disadvantage of using purposive sampling is it is prone to researcher bias as purposive sampling requires the researcher to make subjective and generalized assumptions in order to get their respondents online ("Purposive Sampling 101," 2021). The researchers only can choose the sample who fulfills the criteria of their study, while others are not invited. But, it will affect the credibility of the research as there is the possibility that the researcher has poor consideration or they do not follow their criteria well.

The criteria of purposive sampling are when the researchers are required to filter the samples of respondents based on the researcher's knowledge and experience (Bhardwaj, 2019). In this study, the criteria for being a valid sample are first, the respondents must stay at Klang Valley which includes Ampang, Cyberjaya, Gombak, Kajang, Klang, Kuala Lumpur, Petaling Jaya, Puchong, Putrajaya, Rawang, Selayang, Sepang, Serdang, Shah Alam, and Subang Jaya. Secondly, the respondents must have experience in livestream shopping which is the action of purchasing products or services through a livestream e-commerce platform. Thirdly, this study is targeting youth, therefore, the respondents have to be aged 15 to 30 according to The Youth Societies and Youth Development Act (Amendment) 2019 (Act 668) (Yunus & Landau, 2019).

Furthermore, snowball sampling allows the researchers to collect data without access or get acquainted with the responses, as the researchers do not need to contact the participants directly and just need to depend on social media to get respondents (Leighton et al., 2021). The researchers just need to start with a small number of initial contacts by fitting the criteria to join the research, followed by looking for other potential respondents through recommendations by the respondents via their social networks to build the initial links (Parker et al., 2019). However, the researcher needs to keep on reposting, reverting, or sharing their own post regarding their planning, for example, once per week or bi-weekly.

The advantages of snowballing sampling are it is a cost-effective sampling method that is able to collect primary data with very little planning ("Snowball Sampling," n.d.). Furthermore, snowball sampling has the ability to reach "hidden" populations, which are people that are difficult to access because they have few connections to other communities (Schwab, 2022). For instance, drug users, sex workers, HIV patients, and other people who don't want their identities revealed. Additionally, by utilizing snowballing sampling, researchers can identify variables that share common qualities related to the research process and can help them find the right respondents that fit the research's criteria ("Snowball Sampling Guide," 2022).

The sample is not always representative of the larger population because the researchers have limited control over the sample because they won't be choosing the participants directly, so they will have little knowledge about the sample (Simkus, 2022). Sampling bias will arise during snowballing sampling because the respondents will have the same qualities and traits, allowing the researcher to acquire a small group sample from the overall population ("Snowball Sampling," n.d.).

### 3.4 Questionnaire Design

There is a total of four (4) sections in this survey questionnaire, which comprises 14 questions with relevant sub-topics under a few of the main questions to study how livestreaming affects young people's purchase decisions by using the SOR theory (refer to Appendix for reference). The research objectives are to determine the various "stimulus" and "organism" factors linked to livestream shopping in e-commerce platforms and to examine how "stimulus" and "organism" factors respectively affect consumer purchasing behavior among the youth aged from 15 to 30 in Klang Valley. Therefore, the demographic profile of the respondents is covered in Section A, their livestream shopping habits are covered in Section B, the external factors that affect their purchasing behavior are covered in Section D. Additionally, there will be a filter question before the question asked in Section A, which is the respondents must answer in order to ensure that they are qualified to respond to the questionnaire's subsequent questions and guarantee the validity of their data.

Section A was designed to recognize the demographic profile of respondents as they were asked broad questions about their backgrounds. It consists of nine multiple-choice questions. The respondents were questioned about their gender, age, job status, area of present residence, income level, duration of online purchasing experience, frequency of livestream shopping, and average monthly live-streaming shopping spending. Additionally, the question regarding income level has been classified according to Malaysia's household classifications. According to the Department of Statistics Malaysia Official Portal (DOSM), Malaysia's household income has been classified into three groups, which are the Bottom 40% (B40), Middle 40% (M40), and Top 20% (T20) (Romeli, 2022). The B40 groups are households with incomes under RM4850, the M40 groups are households with incomes between RM4851 and RM10970, and the T20 groups are households with incomes beyond RM10971. Besides,

section B focuses on the respondents' livestream shopping habits and questions about when the respondents started developing the habit of watching live-streaming when doing online shopping and study the application that they used the most for doing livestream shopping. There are two questions in this section, all of which have multiple choices.

The purpose of Section C is to study the external factors (i.e., stimulus) linked to livestream shopping that affect consumer purchasing behavior among youth aged 15 to 30 in Klang Valley. The main question in this section is to study the extent of the following 17 subquestions of respondents on watching live-stream while doing online purchasing; each subquestions have been divided into various dimensions using the Likert scale. Each statement was given a rating of agreement or disagreement from (1) "Strongly Disagree," (2) "Disagree," and (3) "Agree." (2) "Neutral," (3) "Agree," (4) "Strongly Agree," and (5) "Agree." The respondents can rate the statement in accordance with their individual perspectives and experiences. There are different dimensions of external factors that have been used to design the questionnaire, it consists of the features of livestream shopping, the quality of the broadcaster, and the quality of the products marketed.

Section D was designed by Likert-scale to focus on the organism and responses of an individual regarding livestream shopping. Additionally, there is a total of 13 sub-questions in this section. It is used to study the research question of what are the emotional and cognitive (i.e., organism) that lead to consumer purchasing behavior in live-streaming among youth aged from 15 to 30 in Klang Valley and how do "stimulus" and "organism" factors respectively affect consumer purchasing behavior among the youth among youth aged from 15 to 30 in Klang Valley? In this section, organism factors focus on the arousal and pleasure of the respondents when livestream shopping; while responses are used to study the purchase intention that is affected by external factors and emotional and cognitive.
#### 3.5 Research Procedures

Primary data collection will be used in this study. Primary data is information that has been created for the first time by the researcher through their own efforts and experiences, specifically to address the study issue, also known as first-hand data or raw data (Surbhi, 2020). In this study, the researcher designed the questionnaire by using Microsoft Form, an online questionnaire to collect primary and real-time data from 13th February 2023 to 1st March 2023. As a result, a total of 200 responses were collected.

Before the respondents begin to answer the questionnaire, a filter question will be asked. The filter question is to ensure that the respondents had a livestream purchasing experience, ensuring that their responses are accurate and useful for the study. Before the potential respondents fill out the online survey form, the researcher will also verbally or by text ask the filter question to ensure their qualifications. The researcher first made the online questionnaire available on social media accounts to collect responses. First, Instagram was used as a social networking tool. To encourage more replies, the researcher shared a story on Instagram once a week during data collection. Second, the researcher sent the link to the online questionnaire via WhatsApp to possible respondents (who frequently made purchases online) and through a referral of friends, asking them to forward the link to their friends.

Thirdly, a post was made in RED, a China-based application, to collect responses. Due to the fact that RED does not permit users to publish links or quick response (QR) codes on posts, so interested responders will leave comments below the post or contact the researcher directly. As a result, users who are interested have to get the link of the online questionnaire via private message. However, before sending them the link to the online survey questionnaire, the researcher will confirm their qualifications by making sure they meet the requirements. Last but not least, the researcher also went around the campus to gather respondents by asking

them filtering questions. Once the student met the requirements, the researcher invited them to complete the online survey questionnaire.

# 3.6 Data Analysis

#### 3.6.1 descriptive statistics

Descriptive statistics are used to organize data by describing the connection between variables in a sample or population (Kaur et al., 2018). Besides, in a summary that explains the data sample and its measurements, descriptive statistics describe, illustrate, and summarise the fundamental characteristics of a dataset found in a specific study (Simplilearn, 2023). The available data sample is represented by descriptive statistics, which exclude hypotheses, judgments, probabilities, and conclusions.

# CHAPTER IV

# FINDINGS AND ANALYSIS

This chapter consists of the analysis of a questionnaire from 170 valid respondents. The data will be analyzed according to the research questions. In this section, the first part is the demographic profile of the respondents and followed by the live-streaming habit of respondents based on the sequence of the research objectives.



#### 4.1 Demographic Profile of Respondents

Figure 1. Gender of the respondents (n=170)

Figure 1 looks at the gender distribution of respondents, it shows that there is a total of 170 respondents, while 62% (106) of respondents are female and 38% (64) are male.



Figure 2. Age distribution of the respondents (n=170)

Figure 2 is to discover the age distribution among the 170 respondents. The questionnaire targeted the youth aged 15 to 30 years old in Klang Valley. The highest age group among the respondents is aged 21 to 25, which occupied 71% (121). The second highest followed by the age group of 15 to 20 years old with a percentage of 23% (39). The least age group is aged 26 to 30, only occupied 6% (10).



Figure 3. Job status of the respondents (n=170)

Figure 3 is used to measure the job status of the respondents. Most of the respondents are full-time students, occupying 79% (134). Followed by employed, which are 14% (24). And there is only 6% (10) of respondents are unemployed, and another 1% (2) of respondents had chosen the option of "others" without clarifying their job status.



Figure 4. Area of distribution of the respondents (n=70)

The figure above (Figure 4) shows a total of 15 areas of Klang Velly which consists of Ampang, Cyberjaya, Gombak, Kajang, Klang, Kuala Lumpur, Petaling Jaya, Puchong, Putrajaya, Rawang, Selayang, Sepang, Serdang, Shah Alam, and Subang Jaya. According to the figure above, Kajang has the greatest occupancy rate with 30.6% or 52 out of 170 responses. With a proportion of 25.3% and 43 responders, Kuala Lumpur comes in second place. Serdang, at 10.6%, will be the third-highest (18). Klang came in at 6.5% (11), Ampang at 5.9% (10), Petaling Jaya at 5.3% (9), and Puchong at 4.7% (8). Moreover, with 5 respondents respectively, Shah Alam and Subang Jaya are 2.9%. Rawang had 3 responses and a 1.8% rate. Cyberjaya and Gombak, both with 1.2% (2) of the population, are the third-lowest areas. Putrajaya and Sepang, both with 0.6% (1), are in second place. Selayang had the fewest respondents, ranking last with 0.0%.



Figure 5. Monthly income level of the respondents (n=70)

The statistic for the respondents' income level is shown in Figure 5. The group of B40, with an income level below RM4850, makes up the biggest proportion, 94% (160 respondents). The second group is M40, which represents 5% (9 respondents) of those with incomes between RM4851 and RM10,970. The A20 group, whose income level is above RM10,970, makes up 1% (1 respondent) of the population.



Figure 6. The approximate online shopping experience of respondents (n=70)

The question about respondents' online shopping experiences can be seen in the above graph (refer to Figure 6). 70 out of 170 respondents have 3 to 5 years of online purchasing experience, which is the greatest percentage, 41%. There are 35 individuals with 1 to 2 years of experience, making up the second-highest percentage at 21%. Lastly, the percentage of people having internet experience of less than a year and more than five years are each 19%.



Figure 7. The frequency of the respondents doing online shopping (n=70)

In response to this question, Figure 7 shows there are 46% of respondents responded on a monthly basis, while 21% responded on a weekly basis. Only 17% of respondents responded every other month, and 8% said they made internet purchases twice a year. Just 5% of respondents said they would nearly everyday shop online. And, the remaining 4% of respondents only have the online shopping once per year.



Figure 8. The approximate duration spent on livestream shopping per day (n=70)

According to Figure 8, the proportion of 76% is the highest percentage of the amount of time spent on livestream shopping each day is less than two hours, occupying more than half of the respondents out of a total of 130 among 170 respondents. Second, with a percentage of 21%, was 2 to 4 hours each day, with a total of 35 responders out of 170. 2% of respondents will then select 4 to 6 hours, and 1% would select more than 6 hours.



Figure 9. The average amount of money spent on online shopping per month (n=70)

Based on Figure 9, 81% of respondents—138 out of 170—said they spend, on average, less than RM 500 each month on online shopping. Also, 15% (26) of respondents reported monthly spending between RM501 to RM1999 on internet purchasing. Only 3% (4) of respondents, spend RM2000 to RM3999 per month, while only 1% (2) of respondents, spend more than RM4000 per month.





Figure 10. The period developing the habit of watching live-streaming (n=70)

According to the diagram above (Figure 10), 63% of respondents, or 107 out of 170 respondents were developing their streaming internet buying habits during the Covid-19 Pandemic. The remaining 37% of respondents, or 63 people, had already begun to shop online before the Covid-19 Pandemic.



Figure 11. The application used for livestream shopping (n=70)

Figure 11 is used to study the usage of applications that the respondents used for livestream shopping, the result shows that the most frequently used are Shopee, Facebook, and Taobao with the percentage of 28.0%, 18.8%, and 16.7%. And followed by Instagram and Lazada which occupied 15.3% and 13.8%. However, the least used applications are Dou Yin (China's version of Tik Tok) and Tik Tok (International version), with the percentage of 5.8% and 1.3%. Lastly, there are only 0.3% of respondents selected the option of "others" without mentioning the application that they used for livestream shopping.

4.3 The External Factors (i.e., stimulus) of Livestream Shopping Affecting Consumer Purchasing Behavior

The researcher has designed three dimensions for studying the external factors of livestream shopping that affect consumer purchasing behavior. The dimensions are the feature of live-streaming, the quality of the broadcaster, and the quality of the product marketed. Besides, each dimension has different elements that will be studied.

# 4.3.1 feature of livestream shopping

The feature of livestream shopping is one of the dimensions that is studied under the external factors of livestream shopping that affect consumer purchasing behavior. Besides, it consists of two elements: the ease of use and the visuality of the livestream shopping e-commerce platform.



Figure 12. Ease of use of livestream shopping e-commerce platform (n=170)

Figure 12 is to study the ease of use of the livestream shopping e-commerce platform which is one of the features of livestream shopping. The ease of use is an external factor that stimulates the respondents to have livestream purchasing behavior. There are 15.3% of respondents mentioned that they strongly agreed with the livestream shopping e-commerce platform is easier to use compared to shopping physically; 48.2% of respondents agreed; 25.3% is being neutral about this statement; 7.1% of respondents disagree; and there are 4.1% of respondents strongly disagree. Besides, there are 12.9% of respondents strongly agree with livestream shopping is easier to receive product information through live-streaming e-commerce platforms; 56.5% of respondents agreed; 21.8% stated neutral on this statement; and only 7.1% of respondents disagree and 1.8% of respondents strongly disagree.



Figure 13. The visuality of the livestream shopping e-commerce platform (n=170)

According to Figure 13, it can be shown that the majority of the respondents, a combined 75.3% who selected "strongly agree" and "agree", accept that there is information such as the price and volume of the products shown in the live-streaming room can encourage live-streaming buying; 18.8% of respondents are neutral; 3.5% of respondents disagree, and only 2.4% of respondents strongly disagree. Secondly, a well-designed layout that includes pricing, pictures, and descriptions of the products can encourage streaming buying strongly agreed by 11.8% of respondents; agreed by 55.3% of respondents; disagree by 5.3% of respondents; disagree by 5.3% of respondents; mentioned neutral.

### 4.3.2 quality of broadcaster

The second dimension of external factors of livestream shopping that affect consumer purchasing behavior is the quality of the broadcaster. The quality included trustworthiness, expertise, and interactivity.



Figure 14. The trustworthiness of the broadcaster (n=170)

In accordance with Figure 14, the viewer's decision to shop via livestream is influenced by the broadcaster's trustworthiness; as a result, 12.4% of respondents strongly agreed that they will decide to buy when the broadcaster expresses honesty; 34.7% of respondents agreed; while 38.8% of respondents said they were neutral; 10.6% of respondents stated disagree and there are 3.5% of respondents strongly disagreed. Furthermore, 11.8% of respondents strongly agreed that when the viewer receives a sense of sincerity from the broadcaster, it will influence their purchase behavior, 41.8% of respondents agree, 37.6% of respondents are neutral; 6.5% of respondents disagree, and the remaining 2.4% strongly disagreed.



Figure 15. The expertise of the broadcaster (n=170)

The aforementioned figure (Figure 15) demonstrates that more than half of the respondents (a combined 65.9% for those who selected "strongly agree" and "agree") think that having a broadcaster who is knowledgeable about the products or services being promoted will enhance the likelihood that viewer will make a purchase; while 25.3% of respondents had selected neutral; and there are only 8.8% of respondents selected disagree (a combined for those who selected "strongly disagree" and "disagree").

Besides, there is a total of 61.2% of respondents agree (a combination of the respondents who selected "strongly agree" and "agree") that they will be more likely to make a livestream purchase when the broadcaster is able to respond to all of the viewers' questions; while 33.5% of respondents showed neutral; 3.5% of respondents showed disagree; only there are only 1.8% of respondents selected strongly disagree. Moreover, there are 25.9% of respondents strongly agree with when a broadcaster is skilled at promoting products, their intention to make purchases will increase; 48.2% of respondents agreed with the statement; 21.2% of respondents are neutral; and there are only 4.7% of respondents disagree (a combined for those who selected "strongly disagree" and "disagree").



Figure 16. The interactivity of the broadcaster (n=170)

Interactivity is another quality of the broadcaster that will influence the viewers' purchasing decisions. Based on Figure 16, interaction can make the viewers feel engaged in the live-streaming room was strongly agreed by 14.7% of respondents, and agreed by half of the respondents, which is 50%; 28.2% of respondents mentioned neutral and 3.5% of respondents disagree and 3.5% strongly disagree. Secondly, 23.5% of respondents strongly agree with the ability to post comments to ask questions will influence their purchase behavior; more than half of the respondents, which is 60% agree with the statement; 14.7% of respondents mentioned neutral; and there are only 1.8% of respondents (a combined for those who selected "strongly disagree" and "disagree") are disagree.

Thirdly, 18.8% of respondents strongly agreed that instant responses from broadcasters or customer service would have an impact on viewers' purchasing behavior; 44.1% of respondents are agree; 26.5% of respondents expressed neutrality; 8.2% of respondents are disagree; and 2.4% of respondents have strongly disagreed. Besides, 12.9% of respondents strongly agreed; 48.2% of respondents agree; 31.2% of respondents said it would be neutral that interaction between viewers in the livestream room would act as a motivator for purchase activity; however, this statement was disagreed by 5.9% of respondents and strongly disagree by 1.8% of respondents.

More than half of the respondents strongly agreed (22.9%) and agree (58.8%) that products review and customer recommendations on the broadcaster's e-commerce platform are able to influence the purchasing decision, 13.5% of respondents said they were neutral; it was disagreed by 1.8% of respondents and strongly disagree by 2.9% of respondents.

### 4.3.3 quality of product marketed

The quality of the product marketed is the dimension to study the external factors of livestream shopping that affect consumer purchasing behavior. Product price and product usefulness is the element of the quality of the product marketed.



Figure 17. The product price of the product marketed (n=170)

The figure above (Figure 17) describes that 25.9% of respondents; 48.2% of respondents strongly agreed and agreed that product price in livestream shopping is cheaper compared to the physical store or online stores; 17.6% mentioned neutral and only 7.1% of respondents and 1.2% of respondents disagree and strongly disagree with the statement. Moreover, the majority of the respondents (a combined 75.3% for those who selected "strongly agree" and "agree") agreed that livestream shopping has more discounts, 18.8% are neutral about this statement, 4.7% disagreed and 1.2% strongly disagreed.



Figure 18. The product usefulness of the product marketed (n=170)

Based on Figure 18, there are 17.1% of respondents among the 170 respondents strongly agree that the product promoted can stratify their needs when watching a livestream shopping e-commerce platform; more than half of the respondents, 52.9% of respondents are agreed; 24.7% stated neutral, 4.1% of respondents mention disagree, and only 1.2% of respondents strongly disagree.

4.4 The Emotional and Cognitive (i.e., organism) that Lead to Consumer Purchasing Behavior in Live-streaming

There are two research questions under the research objectives of studying the Emotional and Cognitive (i.e., organism) that Lead to Consumer Purchasing Behavior in Livestreaming, therefore, there will be two parts of analysis in this section. Firstly, is to answer the research questions of what are the emotional and cognitive (i.e., organism) that lead to consumer purchasing behavior in live-streaming among youth aged from 15 to 30 in Klang Valley (Figure 19). Secondly, is to answer the research questions of how do "stimulus" and "organism" factors respectively affect consumer purchasing behavior among the youth aged from 15 to 30 in Klang Valley (Figure 20 to Figure 27).



Figure 19. The arousal and pleasure of respondents during livestream shopping (n=170)

Figure 19 illustrates the emotional and cognitive state of the respondents when livestream shopping, 5.9% of respondents strongly agree with the claim that they would feel happy watching the livestream on the e-commerce platform; 47.6% of respondents agree; 34.7% of respondents are neutral on the statement; 6.5% of respondents disagree; 5.3% of respondents disagree. Secondly, 9.4% and more than half of the respondents, which is 52.9% of respondents strongly agreed and agree that they are satisfied with the live-streaming experience on e-commerce platforms; however, 30.0% said they were neutral; while 6.5% and 1.2% of respondents said they disagreed.

Thirdly, 11.8% of respondents strongly agree that they feel excited to hear that there are a restricted number of products being marketed on the livestream e-commerce platform, 37.6% of respondents agree; 27.1% are neutral; 18.8% and 4.7% of respondents disagree and strongly disagree. Fourth, a total of 62.9% of respondents (a combination of respondents who selected "strongly agree" and "agree") say they will be excited if a discount for items sold on the livestream e-commerce platform has a time limit, 22.4% said they would choose neutral, and 14.7% (a combination of respondents who selected "strongly disagree." and "disagree") say they were selected "strongly disagree" and "disagree" selected "strongly disagree" and "disagree") say they would disagree.

Lastly, there are 14.7% of respondents strongly agree that they will feel excited when many viewers express their intention to make a purchase in the comments section, almost half of the respondents, which is 42.2% agree with the statement; 27.6% of respondents mentioned neutral; while 12.4% of respondents disagree, and the remaining 2.9% of respondents strongly disagree.



Figure 20. The impulsive buying behavior of respondents (n=170)

The bar chart above (Figure 20) shows that 8.8% of respondents strongly agree and 37.6% of respondents agree that they will always have purchased behavior impulsively when they are watching the livestream e-commerce platform; while this statement is disagreed by 15.9% of respondents strongly disagree by 7.6% of respondents, while the remaining 30.0% of respondents are neutral.



Figure 21. Ease of use is able to affect purchase intention (n=170)

Figure 21 demonstrates that the ease of use which includes the respondents can easily receive product information and the easier way of shopping compared to physical stores is also able to affect the respondents' behavior, this statement is strongly agreed by 14.7% of respondents, agreed by 57.6% of respondents, which occupied half of the percentage; disagreed by 8.8% of respondents and strongly disagree by 3.5% of respondents, while the remaining 15.3% of respondents mentioned neutral.



Figure 22. Visuality able to affect purchase intention (n=170)

According to Figure 22, many of the respondents strongly agree (17.6%) and agree (52.4%) stay in the position of visuality such as the well-designed layout of the livestream ecommerce platform and there is the information displayed in the livestream room is able to affect their purchase intention, while 24.1% of respondents are in a neutral position, and lastly, this statement is disagreed by 4.7% of respondents and strongly disagree by 1.2% of respondents.



Figure 23. Trustworthiness of the broadcaster able to affect purchase intention (n=170)

Figure 23 demonstrates that 25.9% of respondents strongly agree with trustworthiness such as the honesty and sincerity of the broadcaster will affect their livestream shopping purchasing behavior, the majority of the respondents (51.2%) agree with the statement, 18.2% of respondents are neutral while only 3.5% of respondents and 1.2% of respondents mentioned disagree and strongly disagree.



Figure 24. The expertise of the broadcaster is able to affect purchase intention (n=170)

Based on Figure 24, there is a combination of 71.2% of respondents, "strongly agreed" and "agree" with the statement about the expertise of broadcasters such as their skill in promoting products, the ability to answer viewer's questions, and their knowledge of their products can increase their intention of livestream shopping; while 20.6% are neutral on this statement, and only 4.1% of respondents do not agree and strongly do not agree with the expertise of broadcaster can increase their intention of livestream shopping.



Figure 25. Interactivity able to affect purchase intention (n=170)

Figure 25 is showing the percentage of respondents who agree and disagree with the interactivity of the broadcaster is able to affect viewer purchase intention such as the customer review and product recommendations, the interaction between viewers in the livestream room, the instant replies from the broadcaster, the ability to leave comments, and the interaction engagement will affect respondents' purchase intention. This statement was strongly agreed by 13.5% of respondents, agreed by 50.0% of respondents, disagreed by 5.3% of respondents, strongly disagreed by 2.4% of respondents; while there are 28.8% of respondents selected neutral.



Figure 26. Products' usefulness able to affect purchase intention (n=170)

Figure 26 demonstrates that the majority of the respondents, a total of 79.4% (a combination of those who selected "strongly agree" and "agree") support that the products' usefulness, which is the product promoted can stratify the respondents' needs when watching a livestream shopping e-commerce platform; 15.9% of respondents are neutral; and this has been disagreed by 1.2% of respondents and strongly disagreed by 3.5% of respondents.



Figure 27. Products price able to affect purchase intention (n=170)

According to Figure 27, 35.9% of respondents strongly agree and 43.5% of respondents agree with product price such as the cheaper price and having more discounts is a stimulus that affects their response which is purchasing behavior, while 14.7% of respondents stay neutral, and there are 4.7% of respondents disagree and 1.2% of respondents strongly disagree.

#### CHAPTER V

### DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSION

# 5.0 Questionnaire Results Inferences

The researcher collected a total of 170 valid respondents through quantitative methodology by using an online questionnaire. The data collected in Chapter IV Analysis of Data shows that the proportions of females are 68%, and males are 38%. Besides, this study targets youth aged 15 to 30 years old and from Klang Valley.

#### 5.1 Discussion on Major Findings

The discussion of major findings will be discussed according to the elements in SOR Theory which are stimulus, organism, and responses. And, the stimulus, and organism are the factors that this study wanted to determine about their effect on consumer purchasing behavior among youth aged from 15 to 30 in Klang Valley.

#### 5.1.1 stimulus (S)

The visuality of the livestream e-commerce platform is a stimulus that positively affects consumer purchasing behavior. The broadcaster can present important information about the products or services on the livestream page, such as the prices, and the details of the products. So that, the viewer can have a more direct understanding of the products or services from the broadcaster as the viewer can directly get the information from the livestream page. Besides, a well-designed layout showing the products' prices, pictures, and descriptions in the livestream e-commerce platform is also significant to consumer purchasing behavior. This is because visuality can enhance the feeling that the consumer feels when they are able to buy basic needs of shopping in a cost-effective manner and the satisfaction of consumers in the process of shopping and the satisfaction of self-social image improvement (Liu et al., 2019)

The expertise of the broadcaster is also the stimulus that significantly affects consumer purchasing behavior. Expertise is a high level of skill or knowledge that can be a stimulus for consumers; consumers are more likely to interact with other users who are knowledgeable about brands and products (Lee & Chen, 2021). This is because when the broadcaster is knowledgeable about the products or services promoted, they will have a sense of professionalism, and the viewer will feel that the broadcaster is trustworthy when introducing the products or services. For example, the broadcaster can present the information concisely and clearly to the viewer. The expertise of the broadcaster included the availability of answering all the questions asked by the viewer, as the viewer will have a sense of interaction with the broadcaster. The skill of the broadcaster in promoting products is also important to impact the consumer purchasing behavior, such as by having higher skill in presentation and promoting, the viewer will be easier to be persuaded and influenced.

In addition, the product price of products marketed will also influence consumer purchasing behavior; according to the data collected in Chapter IV, it is cheaper when having livestream shopping compared to shopping physically or even online shopping. This is because the broadcaster has a few products to have special discounts on a specific day to increase their sales. They need to be cheaper compared to their original price in order to attract people to watch their live-streaming and to make an order via the livestream platform to enjoy the special discount. However, a research paper mentioned that the larger the price discounted, the lesser positive consumer feel about impulse buying online (Chen & Yao, 2018). The reason given by the researcher above is the discounted price will cause the public to have a perception of the products are getting cheaper because they might be defective, therefore, the discount will be less attractive to this consumer in the perspective of mobile auction.

# 5.1.2 organism (O)

Due to the emotional experience in live-streaming commerce has a significant impact on action tendency, the researcher confirmed that emotional states, arousal (the feeling of happiness or satisfaction), and pleasure (the feeling of being excited or stimulated), are the significant factors of impulsive buying behavior (Li et al., 2022). Additionally, consistent with the current objectives, an organism which is the emotional and cognitive states is able to affect the livestream purchasing behavior. Through the data analysis in Chapter IV, the researcher found out that the viewers will feel happy and excited when watching the livestream ecommerce. This result shows that the livestream e-commerce platform is able to affect the organism of the viewers by influencing their purchasing behavior.

# 5.1.3 responses (R)

The study's findings demonstrate that both internal (i.e., organism) and external (i.e., stimuli) elements can have an impact on a person's purchasing behavior (i.e., reactions). The external stimulus such as the visuality of the livestream e-commerce platform, the expertise of the broadcaster, and the product price of products marketed are effective external environments that are able to influence the respondents' responses. The aforementioned stimulus has the potential to influence viewers' behavior by influencing their perceptions, such as their purchasing experiences.

The findings also show that people will enjoy and be satisfied with the live-streaming experience. When viewers are stimulated by external factors (such as stimulation), their internal affective assessments rise, which has an impact on their behavior. Therefore, the likelihood that respondents will make a live-streaming purchase will increase if they are pleased and satisfied with the platform. According to the result found the viewer will be excited when heard the number of products is limited and when there is a time limit for the special discount. This shows
that external factors such as the promotion made by the live-streaming can stimulate the cognitive and emotional state of the respondents and lead to an action change.

### 5.2 Limitations of the Study

The objectives of the study have been met, however, there are still some limitations that arose throughout the research study. Firstly, the limited sample size of respondents. In this study, the researcher has only collected 200 respondents who are youth in Klang Valley to study the various "stimulus" and "organism" factors linked to livestream shopping in ecommerce platforms and how "stimulus" and "organism" factors respectively affect consumer purchasing behavior among the youth aged from 15 to 30 in Klang Valley; however, the valid respondents have only 170. Second, because Klang Valley is only a portion of Selangor State and this study aims to examine youth livestream shopping behavior in Klang Valley, this data might be insufficient to represent the data in the whole of Malaysia as a country, or Selangor, as a state. Additionally, this study focuses on young people between the ages of 15 and 30; however, persons over 30 may not be able to use the data.

Furthermore, since this study used purposive sampling and the respondents had to meet certain criteria in order to be considered authentic. The only respondents who met the requirements for filling out the survey were those who had engaged in livestream shopping and were youth between the ages of 15 and 30 who reside in the Klang Valley region. As a result, the data may only be used to represent Klang Valley residents between the ages of 15 and 30; it cannot be used to represent persons of all ages, nationalities, or states. Besides, the methodology of this study is the quantitative method using a close-ended questionnaire, hence, the question is fixed for the respondents to select and it does not provide in-depth insight into the question asked. So, the data can only represent the surface of the problem of study.

#### 5.3 Recommendations for Future Study

In Malaysia, livestream shopping has become a popular marketing strategy, especially since the Covid-19 Pandemic. Future research is advised to be conducted using qualitative methodologies so that the researcher can gather more in-depth data and an open-ended response that is useful to the study in order to have more reliable and solid data to support this new area of study. For instance, in-depth interviews, focus groups, ethnography, or observation. As a result, the researcher can obtain respondents' more in-depth perspectives and data from the qualitative method. To lower the frequency of "Neutral" responses, the researcher should also make the questionnaire less ambiguous. As too many "Neutral" responses will have a negative impact on the study's ability to be validated.

The study's findings could be more reliable and representative if more responses were gathered. Additionally, the future study can investigate more deeply including the platform comparison, the researcher can compare the effectiveness of different livestream shopping platforms in Malaysia such as Shoppe Live, LazLive, and Facebook Live, in terms of audience engagement, conversion rate, and revenue. Moreover, further study can also examine the postpurchase behavior of livestream shopping in Malaysia, including the satisfaction level, product quality evaluation, and repurchase intention, to understand the long-term impact of this new shopping channel.

#### 5.4 Conclusion

This study was motivated to study the impact of livestream e-commerce platforms on youth's purchasing behavior. The research objectives had been accomplished through this study. The results show that the external factors (i.e., stimulus) such as the visuality of the livestream e-commerce platforms positively affect consumer purchasing behavior (70% of respondents); the respondents agreed that the information such as the price and volume of the products shown and the well-designed layout by showing the products' prices, pictures, and descriptions is able to affect their purchase intention. Secondly, the expertise of the broadcaster significantly affects consumer purchasing behavior (71.2% of respondents); the consumer purchasing behavior will be affected due to the knowledge of the broadcaster about the products and services promoted, the ability of the broadcaster to answer all the questions asked by the viewer md the skill of the broadcaster in promoting products. Moreover, the product price is also one of the external factors that affect consumer purchasing behavior (79.4% of respondents); the reason is that the products sold on livestream are cheaper and there are more discounts when shopping via live-streaming. For the emotional and cognitive (i.e., organism) factors, the viewer will feel happy and satisfied when watching the livestream e-commerce platform, hence leading to a significant impact on action tendencies. This chapter concludes with a discussion of the research finding, limitations of the study, and recommendations for further study.

#### REFERENCES

About Klang Valley. (2021). Klang Valley 4Locals.

https://www.klangvalley4locals.com.my/about-kv.html

- Akdoğan, L., Durucu, A., & Durmaz, Y. (2021). CULTURAL FACTORS AFFECTING CONSUMER BEHAVIOR: SOCIAL CLASS. *IJRP 2021*, 79(1), 69-76; doi:.10.47119/IJRP100791620212033.
- Al-Salamin, H., & Al-Hassan, E. (2016). The impact of pricing on consumer buying behavior in Saudi Arabia: Al-Hassa case study. *European Journal of Business and management*, 8(12), 62-73
- Anbalagan, A. (2020, July 17). *How did Shopee overtake Lazada as the leading ecommerce firm in SEA*? The Low Down. https://thelowdown.momentum.asia/how-did-shopee-overtake-lazada-as-the-leading-ecommerce-firm-in-sea/
- Ariffin, S. K., Mohan, T., & Goh, Y. N. (2018). Influence of consumers' perceived risk on consumers' online purchase intention. *Journal of Research in Interactive Marketing*. DOI 10.1108/JRIM-11-2017-0100
- Bhardwaj, P. (2019). Types of sampling in research. *Journal of the Practice of Cardiovascular Sciences*, 5(3), 157. DOI: 10.4103/jpcs.jpcs\_62\_19
- Bigne, E., Chatzipanagiotou, K., & Ruiz, C. (2020). Pictorial content, sequence of conflicting online reviews and consumer decision-making: The stimulus-organism-response model revisited. *Journal of Business Research*, *115*, 403-416. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2019.11.031
- Birruntha, S. (2022, April 29). *Internet usage, access surge after Covid-19 peak*. The Malaysian Reserve. https://themalaysianreserve.com/2022/04/29/internet-usageaccess-surge-after-covid-19-peak/

Bray, C. & Qu, T. (2021, June 25). Millions turn to live streaming to earn a living during
Covid-19 pandemic, as the gig economy takes hold. *South China Morning Post*.
https://www.scmp.com/business/companies/article/3138685/millions-turnlivestreaming-earn-living-during-covid-19-pandemic

Chen, H., Chen, H., & Tian, X. (2022). The dual-process model of product information and habit in influencing consumers' purchase intention: The role of live streaming features. *Electronic Commerce Research and Applications*, 53, 101150. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.elerap.2022.101150

- Clement Addo, P., Fang, J., Asare, A. O., & Kulbo, N. B. (2021). Customer engagement and purchase intention in live-streaming digital marketing platforms: 实时流媒体数字营 销平台中的客户参与和购买意向. *The Service Industries Journal*, *41*(11-12), 767-786. https://doi.org/10.1080/02642069.2021.1905798
- Covid-19 accelerates e-commerce growth in Malaysia, says GlobalData. (2020, September 8). Global Data. https://www.globaldata.com/media/banking/covid-19-accelerates-ecommerce-growth-malaysia-says-globaldata/
- Creswell, J. W. (2016). Research Questions and Hypotheses in Research Design: Chapter 7: Quantitative Research Method. SAGE Publication.

https://us.sagepub.com/sites/default/files/upm-binaries/70019\_Mertler\_Chapter\_7.pdf

Creswell, J. W. (2018). Research Questions and Hypotheses In Research Design: Chapter One: The Selection of a Research Approach. SAGE Publication. https://us.sagepub.com/sites/default/files/upmbinaries/55588\_Chapter\_1\_Sample\_Creswell\_Research\_Design\_4e.pdf
Department of Statistics Malaysia. (2022, July 29). Current Population Estimated, Malaysia,

2022 [Press release].

https://www.dosm.gov.my/v1/index.php?r=column/pdfPrev&id=dTZXanV6UUdyUE Q0SHNWOVhpSXNMUT09

- Doan, T. (2020). Factors affecting online purchase intention: A study of Vietnam online customers. *Management Science Letters*, 10(10), 2337-2342.
  10.5267/j.msl.2020.3.001
- Dudoyskiy, J. (n.d.). Purposive Sampling. Business Research Methodology. https://researchmethodology.net/sampling-in-primary-data-collection/purposive-sampling/
- Dyana, M. L., Hamid, R., Lajuni, N., & Suki, N. M. (2018). What Drives Consumerâ€<sup>™</sup> s Intention to use Online Property Websites: A Conceptual Model. *The Journal of Social Sciences Research*, 630-633. https://doi.org/10.32861/jssr.spi2.630.633
- Gulfraz, M. B., Sufyan, M., Mustak, M., Salminen, J., & Srivastava, D. K. (2022).
  Understanding the impact of online customers' shopping experience on online impulsive buying: A study on two leading E-commerce platforms. *Journal of Retailing and Consumer Services*, 68, 103000.
  https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jretconser.2022.103000
- Han, M. S., Hampson, D. P., Wang, Y., & Wang, H. (2022). Consumer confidence and green purchase intention: An application of the stimulus-organism-response model. *Journal* of Retailing and Consumer Services, 68, 103061. j.jretconser.2022.103061
- Hashim, N. A. A. N., Ramlee, S. I. F., Yusoff, A. M., Nawi, N. M. N., Awang, Z., Zainuddin, S. A., ... & Fatt, B. S. (2019). Internet shopping: How the consumer purchase behaviour is impacted by risk perception. *TEST Engineering & Management*, 59(6S), 1014-1021.
- Hashmi, H., Attiq, S., & Rasheed, F. (2019). Factors affecting online impulsive buying behaviour: A stimulus organism response model approach. *Market forces*, *14*(1). https://kiet.edu.pk/marketforces/index.php/marketforces/article/view/392

Hou, F., Guan, Z., Li, B., & Chong, A. Y. L. (2019). Factors influencing people's continuous watching intention and consumption intention in live streaming: Evidence from China. *Internet Research*. DOI 10.1108/INTR-04-2018-0177

Idris, A. N. (2021, May 30). Government names sectors, services that are allowed to operate under total lockdown. *The Edge Market*. https://www.theedgemarkets.com/article/lockdown-only-17-essential-servicessectors-allowed-operate-including-banks-healthcare

- Japutra, A., Ekinci, Y., & Simkin, L. (2022). Discovering the dark side of brand attachment: Impulsive buying, obsessive-compulsive buying and trash talking. *Journal of Business Research*, 145, 442-453. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2022.03.020
- Joshi, Y., & Rahman, Z. (2019). Consumers' sustainable purchase behaviour: Modeling the impact of psychological factors. *Ecological economics*, 159, 235-243. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolecon.2019.01.025
- Kapur, R. (2020). Meaning and Significance of Culture. Research Gate. https://www.researchgate.net/publication/344664806\_Meaning\_and\_Significance\_of\_ Culture
- Kaur, P., Stoltzfus, J., & Yellapu, V. (2018). Descriptive statistics. International Journal of Academic Medicine, 4(1), 60. http://www.ijam-web.org/text.asp?2018/4/1/60/230853
- Kemp, S. (2022, February 15). Digital 2022: Malaysia. Datareportal. https://datareportal.com/reports/digital-2022-malaysia
- Kimiagari, S., & Malafe, N. S. A. (2021). The role of cognitive and affective responses in the relationship between internal and external stimuli on online impulse buying behaviour. *Journal of Retailing and Consumer Services*, 61, 102567. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jretconser.2021.102567

- Klar, S., & Leeper, T. J. (2019). Identities and intersectionality: a case for Purposive sampling in Survey-Experimental research. *Experimental methods in survey research: Techniques that combine random sampling with random assignment*, 419-433. https://research-methodology.net/sampling-in-primary-data-collection/purposive-sampling/
- Lee, C. H., & Chen, C. W. (2021). Impulse buying behaviors in live streaming commerce based on the stimulus-organism-response framework. *Information*, 12(6), 241. https://doi.org/10.3390/info12060241
- Leighton, K., Kardong-Edgren, S., Schneidereith, T., & Foisy-Doll, C. (2021). Using social media and snowball sampling as an alternative recruitment strategy for research. *Clinical Simulation in Nursing*, 55, 37-42. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecns.2021.03.006
- Li, M., Wang, Q., & Cao, Y. (2022). Understanding Consumer Online Impulse Buying in Live Streaming E-Commerce: A Stimulus-Organism-Response Framework.
   *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 19(7), 4378. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph19074378
- Li, X., Zhou, Y., Wong, Y. D., Wang, X., & Yuen, K. F. (2021). What influences panic buying behaviour? A model based on dual-system theory and stimulus-organismresponse framework. *International Journal of Disaster Risk Reduction*, 64, 102484. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijdrr.2021.102484
- Lin, S. C., Tseng, H. T., Shirazi, F., Hajli, N., & Tsai, P. T. (2022). Exploring factors influencing impulse buying in live streaming shopping: a stimulus-organism-response (SOR) perspective. *Asia Pacific Journal of Marketing and Logistics*, (ahead-of-print). DOI 10.1108/APJML-12-2021-0903

Liu, Y., Zhao, Z., Wu, X., Zhu, M., & Qiu, C. (2019). Research on the Influence of Online Shopping Characteristics on Consumers' Shopping Intention. 2019 9th International Conference on Information and Social Science. DOI: 10.25236/iciss.2019.053

Live Streaming 101: Trends, Insights, and Opportunities in Southeast Asia. (2022, August

17). Edge by Ascential. https://www.ascentialedge.com/insights/apac/livestreaming-101-highlights

Live streaming shopping trending up in Malaysia. (2018, December 31). *The Star*. https://www.thestar.com.my/business/business-news/2018/12/31/live-streaming-shopping-trending-up-in-malaysia/

Low, J. (2021, May 10). *The Klang Valley Explined*. Linkedin. https://www.linkedin.com/pulse/klang-valley-explained-janice-property

- Lu, B., & Chen, Z. (2021). Live streaming commerce and consumers' purchase intention: An uncertainty reduction perspective. *Information & Management*, 58(7), 103509. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.im.2021.103509
- Ma, X., Zou, X., & Lv, J. (2022). Why do consumers hesitate to purchase in live streaming?
  A perspective of interaction between participants. *Electronic Commerce Research and Applications*, 55, 101193. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.elerap.2022.101193
- Mahmutovic, J. (2021, May 26). *14 Advantages of Online Surveys*. Survey Legend. https://www.surveylegend.com/online-survey/advantages-of-online-surveys/
- Malaysia e-Commerce Statistics and Trends in 2022. (2022, June 29). Commission Factory. https://blog.commissionfactory.com/ecommerce-marketing/malaysia-ecommercestatistics
- Ming, J., Jianqiu, Z., Bilal, M., Akram, U., & Fan, M. (2021). How social presence influences impulse buying behavior in live streaming commerce? The role of SOR theory.

International Journal of Web Information Systems. DOI 10.1108/IJWIS-02-2021-0012

- Mokhtar, M., Yusoff, S., Asmuni, S., & Fauzi, N. A. M. (2020). An insight into online shopping behavior among young adults in Malaysia. *Journal of Emerging Economies* and Islamic Research, 8(1), 77-88.
- Mostaghel, R., & Chirumalla, K. (2021). Role of customers in circular business models. Journal of Business Research, 127, 35-44.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2020.12.053

- Nayak, M. S. D. P., & Narayan, K. A. (2019). Strengths and weaknesses of online surveys. *Technology*, 6(7), 0837-2405053138. DOI: 10.9790/0837-2405053138
- Palansamy, Y. (2022, June 9). Ipsos study shows online shopping still strong with young Malaysian, sliding for those above 50 as pandemic recedes. *Malay mail*. https://www.malaymail.com/news/malaysia/2022/06/09/ipsos-study-shows-online-shopping-still-strong-with-young-malaysians-sliding-for-those-above-50-as-pandemic-recedes/11410
- Parker, C., Scott, S., & Geddes, A. (2019). Snowball sampling. SAGE research methods foundations. http://dx.doi.org/10.4135/
- Pemani, P. O., & Massie, J. D. (2017). The effect of personal factors on consumer purchase decision (Case study: Everbest Shoes). Jurnal EMBA: Jurnal Riset Ekonomi, Manajemen, Bisnis dan Akuntansi,

5(1).https://media.neliti.com/media/publications/140591-EN-the-effect-of-personal-factors-on-consum.pdf

Purposive Sampling 101. (2021, May 20). Alchemer.

https://www.alchemer.com/resources/blog/purposive-sampling-101/

Queirós, A., Faria, D., & Almeida, F. (2017). Strengths and limitations of qualitative and quantitative research methods. *European journal of education studies*.
https://www.researchgate.net/publication/319852576\_Strengths\_and\_Limitations\_of\_Qualitative\_and\_Quantitative\_Research\_Methods

Rahman, M. R., & Safeena, P. K. (2016). *Customer Needs and Customer Satisfaction*. Research Gate.

https://www.researchgate.net/publication/303813023\_Customer\_Needs\_and\_Customer\_Satisfaction

- Rapid growth in Klang Valley spurs population spike in NS, census shows. (2022, June 9). *The Star.* https://www.thestar.com.my/news/nation/2022/06/09/rapid-growth-in-klang-valley-spurs-population-spike-in-ns-census-shows
- Rehman, A., & Jamil, S. A. (2016). Influence of income and occupation on consumers' susceptibility to reference group demands on brand choice decisions. *International Review of Management and Marketing*, 6(2), 376-382.
   https://dergipark.org.tr/tr/download/article-file/366999
- Rita, P., Oliveira, T., & Farisa, A. (2019). The impact of e-service quality and customer satisfaction on customer behavior in online shopping. *Heliyon*, 5(10), e02690. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.heliyon.2019.e02690
- Romeli, R. H. (2022, June 2). *Income Classification in Malaysia: What is B40, M40, and T20?* iProperty. https://www.iproperty.com.my/guides/what-is-b40-m40-t20-inmalaysia-67464
- Sayyida, S., Hartini, S., Gunawan, S., & Husin, S. N. (2021). The impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on retail consumer behavior. *Aptisi Transactions on Management (ATM)*, 5(1), 79-88. https://doi.org/10.33050/atm.v5i1.1497

- Schoultz, C., Spetz, E., & Pettersson, I. (2022). Psychological factors impacting the consumer buying behavior: A study investigating how the psychological factors impact the cognitive decision-making process within the make-up industry. https://www.divaportal.org/smash/get/diva2:1664037/FULLTEXT01.pdf
- Schwab, P. N. (2022, June 13). *Snowball effect: advantages, disadvantages, implementation*. Into The Minds. https://www.intotheminds.com/blog/en/snowball-effect/
- Shaharuddin, H. (2021, January 15). Online businesses see rapid growth since MCO last year. The Malaysia Reserve. https://themalaysianreserve.com/2021/01/15/onlinebusinesses-see-rapid-growth-since-mco-last-year/
- Shamri, S. N., Suhaimi, N. A. M., & Alwi, A. (2021). The Factors Affecting the Consumer Buying Behaviour Towards Local Brand of Food Product in Selangor. *Journal Of Agrobiotechnology*, *12*(1S), 40-50. http://dx.doi.org/10.37231/jab.2021.12.1S.269
- Simkus, J. (2022, January 10). *Snowball Sampling*. Simply Psychology. https://www.simplypsychology.org/snowball-sampling.html
- Simplilearn. (2023, January 31). What Is Descriptive Statistics Definition, Types, Applications, and Examples. Simplilearn. https://www.simplilearn.com/what-isdescriptive-statistics-article
- Snowball Sampling Guide. (2022, January 12). Formplus. https://www.formpl.us/blog/snowball-sampling

Snowball Sampling. (n.d.). Explorable. https://explorable.com/snowball-sampling?gid=1578

Song, S., Yao, X., & Wen, N. (2021). What motivates Chinese consumers to avoid information about the COVID-19 pandemic?: The perspective of the stimulusorganism-response model. *Information Processing & Management*, 58(1), 102407. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ipm.2020.102407 Statista Research Department. (2022, October 6). Number of pay TV subscriptions in Malaysia from 2014 to 2021. Statista.

https://www.statista.com/statistics/1051548/malaysia-number-of-pay-tv-subscriptions/

- Suhaidi, N. (2022, June 9). Online shopping still prevalent among Malaysians. The Malaysian Reserve. https://themalaysianreserve.com/2022/06/09/online-shoppingstill-prevalent-among-malaysians/
- Surbhi, S. (2020, July 13). *Difference between primary and secondary data*. Key differences. https://keydifferences.com/difference-between-primary-and-secondary-data.html
- Sutherland, C. (2019, March 20). *10 Key Advantages of Using Online Surveys*. Explorance. https://explorance.com/blog/10-key-advantages-of-using-online-surveys-2-2/
- Svatosova, V. (2020). The importance of online shopping behavior in the strategic management of e-commerce competitiveness. *Journal of Competitiveness*, 12(4), 143. https://doi.org/10.7441/ joc.2020.04.09
- Syazmer. (2021, January 21). Online Businesses See Rapid Growth Since MCO Last Year. Sekolah Perniagaan dan Ekonomi UPM. https://econ.upm.edu.my/article/online\_businesses\_see\_rapid\_growth\_since\_mco\_last \_year-60267
- Taib, M. Y. B. M., Zayedi, N. B. B., & Azmi, M. B. (2020). A CONTRIBUTING FACTOR THAT AFFECTING CUSTOMER PURCHASING BEHAVIOUR. *Journal of Critical Reviews*, 7(8). http://dx.doi.org/10.31838/jcr.07.08.168

Tan, T., Sivanandam, H., Rahim, R. (2020, November 9). Over 30k SMEs have shuttered since the beginning of MCO, Parliament told. *The Star*.
https://www.thestar.com.my/news/nation/2020/11/09/over-50k-smes-have-shuttered-since-the-beginning-of-mco-parliament-told

- Tan. A. (2020, July 16). Wang Lei earns 2-3 times more from 1 hr of selling seafood on live stream than 1 getai show. Mothership. https://unscrambled.sg/2020/06/10/over-1-2million-people-have-watched-%E5%8D%96%E9%B1%BC%E5%93%A5-wang-leisinterview-but-have-they-learnt-the-9-lessons/
- Tran, V. D. (2022). Consumer impulse buying behaviour: the role of confidence as a moderating effect. *Heliyon*, e09672. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.heliyon.2022.e09672
- Wong, Q. (2020, June 10). Over 1.2 million people have watched 卖鱼哥 Wang Lei's interview, but have they learnt the 9 lessons. Unscrambled sg. https://unscrambled.sg/2020/06/10/over-1-2-million-people-have-watched-%E5%8D%96%E9%B1%BC%E5%93%A5-wang-leis-interview-but-have-they-learnt-the-9-lessons/
- Wongkitrungrueng, A., & Assarut, N. (2020). The role of live streaming in building consumer trust and engagement with social commerce sellers. *Journal of Business Research*, 117, 543-556. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2018.08.032
- Xiao, L., Guo, F., Yu, F., & Liu, S. (2019). The effects of online shopping context cues on consumers' purchase intention for cross-border E-Commerce sustainability. *Sustainability*, *11*(10), 2777. doi:10.3390/su11102777
- Yang, J., Zhang, D., Liu, X., Li, Z., & Liang, Y. (2022). Reflecting the convergence or divergence of Chinese outbound solo travellers based on the stimulus-organismresponse model: A gender comparison perspective. *Tourism Management Perspectives*, 43, 100982. j.tmp.2022.100982
- Yunus, A & Landau, E. (2019, July 3). "Youth" is now defined as those between 15 and 30. New Straits Times. https://www.nst.com.my/news/nation/2019/07/501288/youth-nowdefined-those-between-15-and-30

Zhou, S., Li, T., Yang, S., & Chen, Y. (2022). What drives consumers' purchase intention of online paid knowledge? A stimulus-organism-response perspective. *Electronic Commerce Research and Applications*, 52, 101126. j.elerap.2022.101126

Zhou, X., & Tian, X. (2022). Impact of Live Streamer Characteristics and Customer
 Response on Live-streaming Performance: Empirical Evidence from e-Commerce
 Platform. *Procedia Computer Science*, 214, 1277-1284. 10.1016/j.procs.2022.11.306

## APPENDIX

# Survey Question of The Impact of Live-streaming on Youth Purchasing Behaviour.

Dear respondents,

Hi there!

I am Yeong Shu Wee, a final year undergraduate student of Bachelor of Corporate Communication (Honours) from Universiti Tunku Abdul Rahman Sg Long Campus. The objectives of the study are to investigate the Malaysian youth in Klang Valley purchasing behavior regarding live streaming and to study how the relationship between broadcasters and audiences influences purchasing behavior.

#### Procedures

This survey questionnaire consists of 4 sections. Please answer ALL the questions listed in this questionnaire. Completing this survey questionnaire will take approximately 5-8 minutes.

#### Confidentiality

The data collected will be kept strictly confidential and will be used for educational and research purposes only. You may be sure that the answers you provide will be treated with the strictest confidentiality.

#### Participation

This survey participation is completely voluntary, you are free to withdraw from the study at anytime without consequences. There is no potential risk or harm to you for participating in this research project. Please be aware that there is no correct or incorrect answer to any statement. If you have any questions or doubts regarding this questionnaire, please contact me at <a href="mailto:shuwee.yong@1utar.my">shuwee.yong@1utar.my</a>.

Thank you for taking your valuable time to participate in this research project.

Figure 28. Declaration of survey form

1. Have you been livestream shopping? \*

**\*\*Livestream shopping** is the action of purchasing products or services through a livestream e-commerce platform. For example, live-streaming on Facebook or Instagram, or Lazada.

O Yes

🔿 No

Figure 29. Filter question

## Section A - Demographic Profile

### 2. Gender \*



) Female

### 3. Age \*



- 21 to 25 years old
- 26 to 30 years old

#### 4. Job-status \*



- Employed
- Unemployed
- 0

Figure 30. Section A, demographic question (Question 2 to 4)

- 5. Area of present residence \*
  - Ampang
  - Cyberjaya
  - Gombak
  - 🔵 Kajang
  - C Klang
  - Kuala Lumpur
  - Petaling Jaya
  - Puchong
  - O Putrajaya
  - Rawang
  - Selayang
  - Sepang
  - Serdang
  - Shah Alam
  - Subang Jaya

Figure 31. Section A, demographic question (Question 5)

6. Income level *
Below RM4850
C RM4851 to RM10,970
Above RM10,970
7. Approximately how long have you been shopping online? *
<ul> <li>7. Approximately how long have you been shopping online? *</li> <li>Less than 1 year</li> </ul>
C Less than 1 year

Figure 32. Section A, demographic question (Question 6 to 7)

- 8. How frequently do you do online shopping? \*
  - Almost daily
    Weekly
    Monthly
    Every other month
    Bi-annually
    Only once per year
- 9. Approximately how long do you spend on livestream shopping per day? \*



Figure 33. Section A, demographic question (Question 8 to 9)

10. What is the average amount of money you spend on online shopping per month? \*

$\bigcirc$	Less than RM500
$\bigcirc$	RM501 to RM1999
$\bigcirc$	RM2000 to RM3999
$\bigcirc$	RM4000 or more

Figure 34. Section A, demographic question (Question 10)

## Section B - Live-streaming Habit

- 11. When did you start developing the habit of watching live-streaming when doing online shopping? \*
  - Before the Covid-19 Panedmic
  - During the Covid-19 Pandemic
- 12. What applications do you used the most to do livestream shopping?

Please select at most 3 options.

Facebook
Instagram
Lazada
Shopee
Taobao
DouYin (China's version of TikTok)
TikTok (International version)

Figure 35. Section B, live-streaming habit question (Question 11 to 12)

# Section C - The External Factors that Affect Purchasing Behaviour

13. To what extent do you agree with each of the following statements on watching live-stream while doing online purchasing? \*

	Strongly disagree	Disagree	Neutral	Agree	Strongly agree
(a) Live- streaming e- commerce platforms are easier to use compared to shopping physically.	0	0	0	0	$\bigcirc$
(b) It is easier for me to receive product information during livestream shopping.	0	0	0	0	0
(c) It is cheaper when purchased via live stream.	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$
(d) It is having more discounts when shopping via live-stream.	0	$\bigcirc$	0	0	$\bigcirc$
(e) There is information such as price and volume of products shown in the live stream.	0	0	0	0	0

Figure 36. Section C, questions of studying the external factors (Question 13)

(f) There is a well- designed layout by showing the products' prices, pictures, and descriptions.	0	0	0	0	0
(g) The broadcaster gives me a sense of honesty.	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	0	$\bigcirc$
(h) The broadcaster gives me a sense of sincerity.	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$
(i) The broadcaster is knowledgeabl e about the products or services promoted.	0	0	0	0	0
(j) The broadcaster can answer all the questions asked by the viewers.	0	0	0	0	0
(k) The broadcaster is skilled at promoting products.	0	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	0	0
(I) Interacti on make me feel engaged in the live- streaming room.	0	0	0	0	$\bigcirc$
(m) I can ask any questions by leaving	0	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$

Figure 37. Section C, questions of studying the external factors (Question 13)

comments.					
<ul> <li>(n) I am able to get instant</li> <li>replies from the broadcaster or customer services.</li> </ul>	0	0	0	0	$\bigcirc$
(o) I can interact with other viewers in the live- stream room.	0	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$
(p) I can view products review and customer recommendat ions on the broadcaster's e-commerce platform.	0	0	0	0	$\bigcirc$
(q) In most situations, I feel the products promoted can satisfy my needs.	0	0	0	0	$\bigcirc$

Figure 38. Section C, questions of studying the external factors (Question 13)

# Section D - The Organism and Responses of an Individual towards Live-streaming Purchasing

14. To what extent do you agree with each of the following statements on watching live-stream while doing online purchasing? \*

	Strongly disagree	Disagree	Neutral	Agree	Strongly agree
(a) I feel happy when watching the livestream e- commerce platform.	0	$\bigcirc$	0	0	$\bigcirc$
(b) I feel satisfied when watching livestream on e-commerce platforms.	0	$\bigcirc$	0	0	$\bigcirc$
(c) I feel excited when I heard the number of products is limited.	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	0	$\bigcirc$
(d) I feel excited when there is a time limit for a discount.	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	0	$\bigcirc$
(e) I feel excited when a lot of people show wanted-to- buy in the comments section.	0	0	0	$\bigcirc$	0
(f) I always buy things					

Figure 39. Section D, questions of studying the organisms and responses (Question 14)

impulsively w hen watching the livestream e- commerce platform.	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$
(g) Ease of use of the livestream e- commerce platform can affect my purchase intention.	0	0	0	0	$\bigcirc$
(h) The visuality of the livestream e- commerce platform can affect my purchase intention.	0	0	0	0	0
(i) The trustworthine ss of the broadcaster's livestream e- commerce platform can affect my purchase intention.	0	0	0	0	0
(j) Expertise in the broadcaster livestream e- commerce platform can affect my purchase intention.	0	0	0	0	0
(k) Interacti vity among the livestream e- commerce platform can affect my purchase intention.	0	0	$\bigcirc$	0	0

Figure 40. Section D, questions of studying the organisms and responses (Question 14)



Figure 41. Section D, questions of studying the organisms and responses (Question 14)